
City of Kelowna
Regular Council Meeting

AGENDA

 
Monday, March 10, 2014

1:30 pm

Council Chamber

City Hall, 1435 Water Street

Pages

1. Call to Order

This meeting is open to the public and all representations to Council form part of the
public record.  A live audio feed is being broadcast and recorded by CastaNet and a
delayed broadcast is shown on Shaw Cable.

2. Confirmation of Minutes 3 - 8

Regular PM Meeting - March 3, 2014

3. Public in Attendance

3.1 Renata Mills, Executive Director, Festivals Kelowna, re:  Annual Report 9 - 35

To provide Council with an Annual Report.

4. Development Application Reports & Related Bylaws

4.1 Rezoning Application No. Z13-0042, Reconsideration Request - 3112 Watt
Road, Ian & Marguerite Sisett

36 - 69

Mayor to invite the Applicants, or the Applicants' Representative, to come
foward.
Reconsideration of a proposal to rezone the subject property in order to
permit the conversion of an existing accessory building into a carriage house.

4.1.1 Bylaw No. 10918 (Z13-0042) - 3112 Watt Road, Ian & Marguerite
Sissett

70 - 70

To give Bylaw No. 10918 first reading in order to rezone the subject
property from the RU1 - Large Lot Housing zone to the RU1c - Large
Lot Housing with Carriage House zone.

4.2 Area Structure Plan Application No. ASP13-0001 & Official Community Plan
Bylaw Amendment Application No. OCP13-0021, Supplemental Report -

71 - 72

1



Thomson Flats, Melcor Developments Ltd. et al

To consider the public consultation process for the Area Structure Plan and
Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment and to forward the OCP Amending
Bylaw to a Public Hearing.

4.2.1 Bylaw No. 10924 (OCP13-0021) - Thomson Flats, City of Kelowna 73 - 75

Requires a majority of all members of Council (5).
To give Bylaw No. 10924 first reading in order to amend the Area
Structure Plan in the Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500.

4.3 Rezoning Application No. Z10-0104, Extension Request - 1205, 1215, 1223 &
1229 Richter Street, Eric & Margaret Nickel

76 - 80

To extend the date for adoption of Zone Amending Bylaw No. 10554 from
March 7, 2014 to March 7, 2015 in order to rezone the subject properties from
the RU6 - Two Dwelling Housing zone to the RM5 - Medium Density Multiple
Housing zone in order to facilitate a 26-unit apartment building.

5. Non-Development Reports & Related Bylaws

5.1 Lakeshore Upgrades 81 - 89

To inform Council on the progress to date on the detail design and
construction schedule of the Lakeshore Road Upgrade Project form Cook Road
to Lexington Drive; To explain the need for additional funds and seek Council's
approval to authorize funds necessary to construct the Lakeshore Road
Upgrades project.

5.2 2014 Water and Sewer Rates 90 - 92

Report to Council regarding changes to the 2014 Water and Sewer rates.

5.2.1 Bylaw No. 10927 - Amendment No. 32 to Sewerage System User Bylaw
No. 3480

93 - 94

To give Bylaw No. 10927 first, second and third readings in order to
amend Sewerage User Bylaw No. 3480.

5.2.2 Bylaw No. 10928 - Amendment No. 3 to Water Regulation Bylaw No.
10480

95 - 103

To give Bylaw No. 10928 first, second and third readings in order to
amend Water Regulation Bylaw No. 10480

6. Mayor and Councillor Items

7. Termination

2



3



4



5



6



7



8



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

        

 

 

 

 

 

  

Annual Report to Kelowna City Council  

“ A summary of our 2013  

festivals, events, and programs” 

Submitted March 5th, 2014 
 

 

 

 

 

"Grapes of Wrath"  Homecoming  

Concert, August 2013 

Celebrate Canada Day - Kelowna 

fireworks 2013 

New York New Year's Eve 

Jim Stuart Park 

live music at Strathcona Park 

with Parks Alive! 

9



 
 

Festivals Kelowna – A Review of 2013 Programs and Activities 

March 5th, 2014   

Page 2 of 27 

Introduction 

2013 was another busy but successful year for Festivals Kelowna as we produced five key festivals and programs on 
behalf of the municipality for the benefit and enjoyment of the citizens of Kelowna: 

1. Celebrate Canada Day – Kelowna festival 

2. Parks Alive! 

3. Kelowna Buskers Program 

4. Arts Alive! artisan program 

5. New York New Year’s Eve  

This report will provide Kelowna City Council with an overview of the events that Festivals Kelowna produced in 2013, 
plans for the 2014 program season, and illustrate how our activities provided direct benefits to the citizens of Kelowna, 
our cultural community, and the City of Kelowna. 

Society structure  
 

• Festivals Kelowna is a non-profit society that was established in 2007  
 

• We are governed by an 11 member volunteer Board of Directors with a diversity of expertise drawn from the 
community. (2013 Board of Directors list included in the Appendix.) 
 

• Our relationship with the City of Kelowna is managed through a multi-year “Operating Agreement”. Following a 
public process, this agreement was renewed between the City of Kelowna and the Festivals Kelowna society 
in December 2013 for a 3 year term. 
 

• The City of Kelowna provides financial support for the events and activities we produce through an annual 
operating grant. The society generates additional revenue through sponsorships, grants, community 
donations, ticket sales, vendor fees, and program fees.   
 

• The society manages the funding relationship with Folk Fest and the Canada Day concerts society for Canada 
Day on behalf of the City of Kelowna. An administrative fee is not retained for this service but is an “added-
value” for the City. We continue to work collaboratively with Folk Fest and the Canada Day Concerts Society in 
the planning and execution of their activities, provide advice and support, and work with their venue and 
service providers to help ensure the most efficient use of these funds. 

 

Staffing 
 
To plan, produce, and execute the programs and festivals in our portfolio, Festivals Kelowna employs a combination of 
full-time staff working alongside seasonal, project-based staff. We have found this staffing model to be cost effective 
and efficient given the fluctuating planning and delivery cycles that exist in the events industry. 
 
Our society is run by two full-time, year-round event professionals including: 
• Renata Mills, Executive Director 
• Ryan Donn, Program Coordinator 
 
During our peak event months, we hire additional part-time and contract staff to provide support in key areas like 
Volunteer Coordination and Site & Operations Coordination for Canada Day. In fact, we have been privileged to work 
with many of the same, skilled contract staff each year who return to work with us on our festivals and events, such as 
Mark Greenhalgh and Wan Wan.  

10



 
 

Festivals Kelowna – A Review of 2013 Programs and Activities 

March 5th, 2014   

Page 3 of 27 

 
To deliver the Parks Alive! program, we hire two university students from an event management related discipline to fill 
positions as full-time, temporary Parks Alive! Program Assistants between mid-May and the end of August each year. 
We have consistently found these students to be an invaluable asset to our organization in that they bring enthusiasm, 
energy, and a fresh perspective to our events and activities. 
 
A society organizational chart is included in the Appendix. 
 

Mission & Vision statements 
  
VISION 
Connecting our community through festivals and events. 
 
MISSION 
Festivals Kelowna will produce and develop community-focused, accessible and diverse events. Through collaboration 
with our stakeholders, Festivals Kelowna will support the growth of a strong, sustainable events community. 
 

2013 Activities  
 
Festivals Kelowna once again produced multiple community focused, arts-based events and programs that provided a 

variety of benefits for our community.  In broad strokes, by appealing to a variety of ages and interests we positively 

impacted the quality of life for Kelowna residents and visitors through cultural and recreation experiences in unique 

outdoor environments.  

The following section summarizes outcomes and highlights for the programs we delivered in 2013. Of particular note 

in 2013 was the introduction of our new "Marquee Buskers" program and delivery once again of the newly created and 

well received "New York New Year's Eve" family event.  

Celebrate Canada Day – Kelowna 

Program Mission: 

To create an inclusive, barrier-free, multi-generational festival that is reflective of our community, and that encourages 

our citizens to actively celebrate their pride in being Canadian through cultural and recreational activities. 

“Celebrate Canada Day – Kelowna” is a free, single day festival held at multiple venues in Kelowna’s Cultural District 
including Prospera Place, Waterfront Park and Jim Stuart Park. We have produced the event since 2006, and each 
year we featured programming suitable for all ages, as well as created areas dedicated to specific demographics 
including the “Kids Zone”, and the “Youth Stage”.  A copy of the 2013 schedule of activities is included in the Appendix.  
 
• “Celebrate Canada Day – Kelowna” continued to be produced as a collaboration between Festivals Kelowna, 

Folkfest, and the Kelowna Canada Day Concerts Society. Each group produced their own component of the 

festival, shared resources where possible, and jointly marketed their activities to the community as one larger 

Canada Day celebration 

• Once again additional organizations reached out to the society and aligned their Canada Day activities with 

our celebration in order to coordinate logistics, share audiences, and cross-promote activities through each 

other’s marketing. For example we were again joined by the Kelowna Art Gallery with their “Great Canadian Apple 

Bin Paint-in”. Meanwhile our buskers came out in droves on Canada Day. Our staff noted that most Busk Stop 

locations were full throughout the day as buskers took advantage of the large crowds throughout downtown.  

 

11



 
 

Festivals Kelowna – A Review of 2013 Programs and Activities 

March 5th, 2014   

Page 4 of 27 

 

Highlights: 
 
• A diverse, live entertainment program on multiple stages resulted in more opportunities for local artists to 

perform, and our audiences enjoyed a greater variety of performance styles  
 

• Interestingly, attendance was down in 2013 by 18% over 2012. This was observed at the mid-day point in the 
event and can be attributed to the extreme heat of the day. We estimate approximately 55,000 people 
attended the activities in Waterfront Park and Stuart Park between 10:00 am and 10:30 pm, meaning more than 
half of the City of Kelowna participated in the festival throughout the 12 hour event!  Of note, an estimate from 
the City of Kelowna Outdoor Events Monitor placed the attendance closer to 63,000 patrons throughout the day.  
 

• Leveraging the City of Kelowna’s investment with an additional $68,000 from other sources of revenue we 
were able to achieve 98% of projected revenues, an increase over 2012. We saw an increase in onsite 
commercial exhibitors, activities, as well as food vendors but noted a decrease in the artisan and Bazaar vendors.  

 
• Approximately 200 volunteers participated on event 

day, including at least 35 people from 20 different 
organizations who volunteered their time to produce 
an activity for the popular Kids Zone. Included in our 
volunteer corps again were service organizations like 
the Kelowna Lioness Club, and an increased number 
of students from the International Students 
Associations from UBCO and Okanagan College 
who have contributed their time each year for the past 
five years. Our volunteers play an important role in 
creating a successful event through their customer 
service roles. They assisted with donations gathering, 
greeting festival guests, assisting in performer 
coordination onsite and staffing our information booths.  

 
• Our staff noted that key areas of our event site were at capacity and experienced congestion at multiple points 

throughout the day. Therefore, we will be looking at ways to modify our site layout or programming in 2014 in order 
to alleviate this congestion. 
 

• As ever, our media and corporate partners continued to be an integral component to our success with 
Celebrate Canada Day – Kelowna. The media, represented by 4 radio stations, both local newspapers and 2 
television stations, as well as numerous online media sites, provided broad and extensive in-kind promotion 
with a value exceeding $30,000. Complementing this contribution, our corporate partners provided almost 
$29,000 in financial contributions to the festival through sponsorship, donation to the event, and revenue 
sharing activities.  
 

• Festival programming over the 12 hour event continued to be diverse and hold broad appeal: 
• 33 different musical and dance acts performed, an increase over 2012. 
• 5 stages featured over 221 individual performing artists. This represents a 30% increase over the 

number of performers we had in 2012 and the number of stages.  
• Over 26 hours of live entertainment in 16 different genres from folk to jazz, urban beats to heavy and 

classic rock, roots to disco,  bluegrass and  Country were presented.  

• Headliner artists on the TD Music Stage were very multicultural in 2013. We featured well known, professional 
multicultural B.C. touring act, “Digitaal” who added the flair of "Bhangra" as our headline act.  Other multicultural 
headline acts included “Nolunta’s” from Italy and “Robert Gordon College” from NE Scotland.  The remainder of 
artists performed in a range of musical styles from roots, to pop, to Bluegrass Country and exposed our Kelowna 
audiences to new artists and music they may not otherwise get to experience.  

12



 
 

Festivals Kelowna – A Review of 2013 Programs and Activities 

March 5th, 2014   

Page 5 of 27 

• Unique in 2013 our “Youth Zone Stage” held in Stuart Park was able to feature a 62 piece youth Orchestra early in 
the afternoon based on a partnership opportunity with Robert Gordon College. The evening portion of the 
programming was once again focused on the youth audience. A shock illusionist performer, emerging EDM 
(electronic dance music) act and a popular DJ filled the evening stage component.   

• Performances by 9 youth artists were integrated into all our stages alongside more experienced, professional 
performers. The artists included “Ben Klick”, “Beamer Wigley”, “Shadow” and 8 “Talented Kids” resulting in 
increased learning opportunities for developing artists to hone their performances skills in a professional 
performance environment.  

• A highlight activity this summer was our new Samoan Strongman Show. They took over the closed Water Street 
and performed strongman feats and provided a unique multicultural component as part of our event. Through 
showcasing their traditional Haka dance at the TD Beach Stage they also helped create one of the most diverse 
multicultural line ups we have ever had on Canada Day.  

• New this year we added programming at the Kerry Park stage. This new stage was programmed in partnership 
with the Inspired Word Café and featured spoken word as well as acoustic folk-style performances. 

• We enhanced our Kids Zone programming in 2013 by adding a Fire truck and a petting zoo. Very welcome 
activities for the children and parents, we will look at repeating these new components in future years.  

• Participant attendance was strong again in 2013 with 104 different companies or organizations attending 
onsite with a sales booth, information display or activity, a modest increase over 2012. Participants included food 
vendors, artisans, merchandise vendors, community groups, small businesses, Kids zone activity stations, and 
non-profit community groups. 

 
o 15 different children’s activities were featured in the Kids Zone in Waterfront Park. 
 

o 26 local and Okanagan Valley artists featured original Canadian artwork in the “Made in Canada 
Marketplace”, consistent with 2012 participation. 
 

o 25 food/merchandise vendors 
 

o 25 local small businesses participated in the “Canada Day Bazaar”, a slight decrease over 2012 figures 
 

o We saw an increase in onsite participation for major brands (including Best Buy, CUPE, Dr Scholl’s, 
and Fortis Gas and Fortis Power Sense). We see this as recognition of the potential reach of our event by 
the business community. Having national brands look to our event to connect with their consumers is 
a new growth for our event. It’s something we have had as a goal for a number of years and now that it 
has started we see this continue to grow as the business community becomes more aware of the scale of 
Kelowna’s Canada Day Celebrations and the benefits they can realize through a relationship.  

 

o 9 different community groups participated in the “Community Showcase” to share information with the 
festival patrons about their organizations and the positive work they perform for our community 

 

• Overall, thanks to the corporate, government and media support, as well as the ongoing commitment from our 

event participants, we were able to produce a high quality, safe, all-ages appropriate, professional festival 

experience that offered a wide range of activities for the community to enjoy, allowed us to compensate our 

performing artists fairly, and ensured the community was well informed about the activities, resulting in a very well 

attended community festival. 

13



 
 

Festivals Kelowna – A Review of 2013 Programs and Activities 

March 5th, 2014   

Page 6 of 27 

Parks Alive! 

Program Mission:  

Parks Alive! is dedicated to maximizing the potential of our lakefront and community parks by stimulating a vibrant art 

and culture presence. 

A community-focused program, Parks Alive! presents live entertainment and other arts-based programming in multiple 

parks and public spaces throughout Kelowna, primarily during the summer months of July and August each year. The 

2013  schedule of events included in the Appendix. 

Highlights: 

• In 2013, an estimated 24,000 resident and visitors enjoyed 160 hours of free, live cultural performances in 

Kelowna’s parks and urban spaces. This program continued to be an integral part of the summer culture in our 

community as it brought people together in common enjoyment of an activity, thereby helping bridge the 

gaps between different ethno and socio-economic sectors of our city.  

• Parks Alive! continued to add to the number of affordable, family-friendly, and all-ages appropriate cultural 

experiences in Kelowna. 49 concert events were presented in 18 different venues throughout the city, 

between 5 and 6 days a week over a 9 week period in locations that were easy to find. The free entry, diversity 

of genres, and multiple venue locations ensured Parks Alive! remained accessible for the community. 

• Audiences were exposed to new artists and performance styles they may have never experienced before, 

with  60% of our performers new to Parks Alive! in 2013. Unique artists such as Laetitia Zonzambe, Grapes of 

Wrath, Opera Kelowna,  Jessica Stuart Few, and Livy Jean entertained our audiences with performances that 

were “new and different”, and helped to encourage a greater appreciation for the arts in general. 

• Parks Alive! continued to hire many local acts in 2013. We hired over 150 acts for 169 performance 
opportunities, resulting in an increased number of paid, professional performance spaces in Kelowna, and 
helped increase awareness and interest in Kelowna about the depth of artistic talent in our community. As 
well, because 79% of our performers were Okanagan-based acts we continued to contribute to the 
sustainability of the local cultural community by creating opportunities for local artists to work in their 
own community.  
 

• As ever, one of the guiding principles for Parks Alive! is to showcase talent of all skill levels on our stages. 
Artists benefited through: 
 

o Exposing their art form to new and larger audiences  

o Development opportunities for youth and beginner performers who were featured alongside more 
established, professional artists, thus encouraging modeling and mentorship between artists 

o Performances were presented in a professional environment that allowed beginner artists to hone their 
skills; the more often these artists perform in front of live audiences, the more they learn their craft and 
improve 

o 15 youth solo artists or bands from a variety of genres were hired including “Bear Meets Word”, 
“Maddy and Abby”, “Black Mountain Boys”, and rock band programs like “Wentworth Elite Band” and 
“Kelowna School of Rock”, as well as artists from the classical field such as Sandra Babbel’s Opera 
program, and 10 talented youth from the Talented Kids program. 

14



 
 

Festivals Kelowna – A Review of 2013 Programs and Activities 

March 5th, 2014   

Page 7 of 27 

 

 

• Working in partnership and collaboration is another guiding principle with our program.  In 2013 we partnered 

with 17 groups that allowed us to: 

o Leverage each other’s resources to create greater impact  on the community 

o Enhance our programming and expose our audiences to new artists  

o Increase creative output by collaborating to develop new artistic concepts 

o Expand our reach in the community and connect with more people through cross-promotion 

o Develop new networks and relationships  

 

A sampling of these partnerships included: 

o “Keloha Music & Arts Festival” again allowed us to tap into new artist networks, share expenses with 

Keloha for jointly presenting artists, and be able to afford a greater number of professional artists  

o The French Cultural Centre which helped identify and feature Francophone artists, extend their reach 

into the broader community, and build an appreciation for the Francophone culture to greater numbers of 

people through our existing, well attended program. This summer we were able to feature Laetitia 

Zonzambe. On Wikipedia it states that “Laetitia Zonzambé is widely regarded in Central African Republic 

as the top pop music star in the country”. To be able to feature this caliber of act through a unique 

collaboration is at the heart of why we look to other groups to help us find acts that are typically not on our 

radar.  

• The K96.3 and Music BC “K-Comp” artist development program featured emerging musical acts at our 

concerts in Waterfront Park in a competition format, with 

weekly judged performances for a 5 week period. This 

partnership also culminated in the wildly successful end 

of summer concert featuring Grapes of Wrath where the 

winners of the K-Comp competition were awarded an 

opening slot at this concert event.  

• In a moment of unique timing we had the opportunity to 
present Kelowna's own " Grapes of Wrath" in a 
homecoming concert as they celebrated their 30th 
anniversary in Canada's music industry. It was our 
largest Parks 
Alive! concert of 
the summer with 
over 4,000 folks 
in attendance at 
the Island Stage 
and a special 
presentation to 
the band by the 
Mayor of 
Kelowna, His 
Worship Walter Gray. What a terrific way to recognize         
some of Kelowna's most successful professional          
musicians. 

15



 
 

Festivals Kelowna – A Review of 2013 Programs and Activities 

March 5th, 2014   

Page 8 of 27 

 

 

• The City of Kelowna Recreation Division's Park n’ Play program provided drop-in recreation activities for families 
at 2 concert events 

 
• Sandra Babbel and Opera Kelowna identify and secure emerging Opera artists as part of the Opera Kelowna 

summer training program. To our benefit, Opera Kelowna was able to headline our Classical themed show at 
Guisachan Gardens. For the second year in a row this show has drawn a unique demographic for us and also 
created its own unique dynamic and identity. For example, unlike most Parks Alive! shows, the audience expected 
silence from each other, made numerous requests for concert programs (something which up until now we have 
never considered providing). On the upside, though, this crowd was one of our most generous and supportive that 
we experienced that summer.   

• Robert Gordon College, based in Aberdeen Scotland, was on a Western Canada tour and returned to Kelowna 
after Canada Day so we were able to feature their 68 piece 
youth band for an entire evening on the Island Stage, much 
to the delight of our audiences. 

• Jazz Jam is a weekly gathering of Jazz artists that perform 

weekly at the RCA. Although their show was rained out they 

connected our programming to some of our newer Jazz acts 

in the community.  

• Talented Kids (Creative Okanagan) helped us find and 
book ten emerging youth performers for our show. Our ED, 
Renata Mills, was a judge for the auditions and we offered 
the top ten Talented Kids a number of paid performances at 
our Parks Alive! Program. These performances were 
typically 10-15 minutes to allow them the opportunity to 
develop their stage presence and showmanship in a shorter 
format than our typical 45 minute shows.  

 

• Scarecrow Festival (URBA) a new 
partnership for us in 2013, Festivals Kelowna 
coordinated and provided support for the 
onstage programming for the Scarecrow 
Festival. We followed the Parks Alive! model 
and booked 4 bands that fit the fall fair theme. 
This partnership allowed URBA to focus on 
other details of the event knowing that the 
entertainment portion was in good hands. We 
also worked with URBA and provided event 
consultation that helped the URBA team fine 
tune the event, resulting in direct hard cost  

         savings for the festival.  

o Cultural Services (Culture Days) through our office we programmed 4 performers at the Cultural Days 
event in order to animate a public space.  

o Public Pier Opening: Festivals Kelowna was asked to assist in finding and programming the pre-opening 
of the Public Pier. We provided assistance on a cost recovery and fee for service basis. We secured eight 
unamplified performers for the event using the linkage to our new Marquee Buskers program. This was a 
great example of how this new program already offers us a chance to adapt to unique event entertainment 
needs.   

• We welcomed a number of service clubs and social agencies to set-up displays at our events, and share 
valuable information with our audiences about the services and benefits they provide our community. Groups 

16



 
 

Festivals Kelowna – A Review of 2013 Programs and Activities 

March 5th, 2014   

Page 9 of 27 

 

 

included the Canadian Diabetes Clothesline program, Kiwanis and Rotary Clubs of Kelowna, and the Canadian 
Red Cross. In all they attended over a dozen of our events this summer.  

• We continued to leverage our media relationships to build interest and awareness in the community about 

our activities through sponsorship relationships with 3 long term media partners including Astral Radio’s 101.5 EZ 

Rock, K96.3 Classic Rock, and the Kelowna Capital News who have all been multi-year supporters of Parks Alive! 

In addition to these traditional marketing techniques, we continued to utilize social media to encourage 

conversation about our activities.  

o Facebook – Parks Alive! page grew to 1013  “likes” (a 110% increase over 2012 numbers), allowing us to 

reach over 2,000 people each week with our posts (this also reflects a 100% over our avg reach of 1000 in 

2012; Festivals Kelowna group has 1039 compared to 754 in 2012 members 

o @parksalive Twitter account has 2333 followers compared to 1618 in 2012  

o Festivals Kelowna YouTube channel now has over 7500 views compared to 5000 in 2012.  

We have found social media to be a very effective and powerful tool for providing immediate information to our 

followers, and for reaching new audiences that rely more heavily on web based sources for their “what to do” 

updates. Additionally, staff again found facebook to be an increasingly important tool for sourcing and 

communicating with artists for our programs and events. 

• Our revenues for Parks Alive! in 2013 continued to be strong, although we did see a decline in artisan fees 
due to a softer year for Arts Alive! vendor participation. As always, we leveraged the City of Kelowna 
investment through grants, sponsorships, donations from the public and service clubs, and vendor programs. Of 
note we saw an increase in the value of employment grants over 2012 and a significant increase in public 
donations. This 40% increase in donations was fuelled by the business community through a fee for presence 
onsite at Parks Alive!  shows and an increase in donations from the public. We were also pleasantly surprised by a 
renewed community gaming grant. 

 

• A copy of the 2013 Parks Alive! Entertainment Program schedule is included in the Appendix. 

 

Kelowna Buskers Program 

Program Mission: 

To provide unique performance opportunities for local and touring street-style  
artists, and to animate public walkways through cultural performances. 
 

The Kelowna Buskers Program features 15 highly visible locations along the lakefront walkway, downtown core, 

Cultural District, and in the South Pandosy neighborhood. Buskers choose from 4 permit options from based on how 

long they wish to participate in the program – annual (12 months), summer (May through September), temporary (day) 

and a group option to accommodate larger performance troupes.  

Highlights: 

• At Festivals Kelowna we consider the Buskers Program our first point of contact for many of our new acts. 

 

17



 
 

Festivals Kelowna – A Review of 2013 Programs and Activities 

March 5th, 2014   

Page 10 of 27 

0

20

40

60

80

100

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Kelowna Busker

Program

Participation

Growth

• Our program is set-up to accommodate both local Buskers as well as those passing through Kelowna 
looking to pick up short-term gigs. In 2013, 87% of our buskers were from the Okanagan, while 13% were visitors 
to our community.  Of note, in 2012 only 20% of our buskers were new, while in 2013 over 90% of our Buskers 
were new to the program. This incredible increase is due to the tremendous growth, interest and support of the 
buskers program in our community and also in part due to the buzz about the new potential buskers festival.  

• Since 2009, we have seen continuous growth in participation. 85 Buskers participated in 2013, a 28.1% 

increase over 2012.  

• The “Summer” permit was again the most popular 
representing 50% of permits sold, while “monthly” at 
34% of permits were the second most popular 
versions. This is consistent with Buskers tending to 
seek more opportunities during warmer weather. 

• In the context of the broader performance 
opportunities that Festivals Kelowna provides artists, 
the Kelowna Buskers Program has been described as 
an entry level point of contact for our staff to discover 
artists. The audition process continues to be a 
great way for us to identify developing or 
established artists that we may not have been aware            
of otherwise. As a result, in 2013 we offered over 32 

paid performances (at Parks Alive! and through our new Marquee program) to  Buskers that came in for an 
audition. 

• Buskers are often sought after to provide informal entertainment for existing events, and we receive 
numerous calls throughout the year from organizers looking to include Buskers in their activities.  This was 
demonstrated in 2013 as we used our busk style performing artists for both the Public Pier Opening and for a 
portion of the “Culture Days” events. The unamplified performers were able to effectively animate the venue with 
live cultural performances without having to use the significant infrastructure associated with a more formal 
performance and production sound set-up.   

 
NEW - Marquee Buskers Program  

A new program introduced in 2013, the Marquee Buskers Program, was created in response to a number of 

factors that continued to increase each year. The impetus for the program came from: 

1) An ever increasing number of late Parks Alive! applicants, who while highly talented, were unable to be 
booked in our already full program. 

2) A need for additional cost effective ways to animate public spaces. 

3) A desire to increase the number of paid performance opportunities within the Festivals Kelowna menu of 
programs. 

4) A consistent increase in the number of our highly skilled Buskers in our program, who needed an in-between 
paid performance opportunity between the artist driven opportunities of the ”Buskers Program”  and the fully 
booked and managed Parks Alive! to present Buskers with a paid performance that differed from our Parks 
Alive! model.  

 

 

 

18



 
 

Festivals Kelowna – A Review of 2013 Programs and Activities 

March 5th, 2014   

Page 11 of 27 

 

Program Structure: 

Buskers drop by our office and audition for their regular Busking 

permit on an ongoing basis. Therefore, the strategy in 2013 was to 

ensure all Festivals Kelowna staff kept an eye open for "stand out" 

acts that could help us launch our new Marquee Buskers Program.  

Once a number of eligible Buskers were found, Festivals Kelowna 

secured these artists for July and August, "seeded" their 

performance with a modest fee and hired them to busk at a 

designated “Busk Stop” for 2 hours. During this time they were able 

to accept donations from the public, just like a regular “Busk Stop” 

performance. The contract and our fee acted as an incentive for the 

Busker to commit to a location for a set duration.  

In 2013 Festivals Kelowna offered 27 paid Marquee Busker contracts to 14 Marquee Buskers. For our 27 

Marquee performances, we had three locations that were animated on a weekly basis during July and August.  

1. “Kerry Park walk way”, 11:30-1:30pm, Wednesdays during July and August. 

2. “Kelowna Farmers and Crafters Market”, 10am – 12pm Saturdays during July and August.  

o In partnership with the Kelowna Farmers and Crafters Market. It should be noted that artists found 
this a very rewarding and financially lucrative opportunity.  

3. “Rotary Center for the Arts” , 6:00-8pm every Friday night in partnership with the Kelowna Summer 
Theatre Festival Society.  

o Our goal with this collaboration was to provide the audiences that had arrived early for the Theatre 
shows with pre-show entertainment. We leveraged our funds by working with KSTFS to share 
performer costs and they encouraged a number of performers to join our Buskers program based 
on this collaboration.  KSTFS managed the artists and signage onsite, while Festivals Kelowna 
booked contracted and paid the Buskers.  

Following the conclusion of our summer season, we still found a few unique programming partnership 

opportunities for our Marquee Busker performers: 

1. Four (4) Buskers were hired for Culture Days in partnership with the City of Kelowna.  
2. Eight (8) Buskers performers performed for the new Public Pier opening in September.  

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Combining the summer bookings, Culture Days, and the Pier opening,  
we added 12 additional paid performances for a total of 39 new paid opportunities  

for our roster of emerging Busk style performers.  
 

This new program also represented an additional 60 hours of programming that animated public 
spaces using a very cost effective model. 

 

19



 
 

Festivals Kelowna – A Review of 2013 Programs and Activities 

March 5th, 2014   

Page 12 of 27 

 

 

 

New York New Year's Eve 

A play on the iconic Eastern time-zone based event in New York City each 
year, this local event was created by Festivals Kelowna in 2012. Developed  
in response to public feedback, we recognized that a need existed for a 
family-friendly New Year’s Eve event. Thanks to its popularity and the 
strong public response, we presented NYE again in 2013. 
 
• This one night celebration was again held in Jim Stuart Park from 6:00 to 

9:00 pm and was modeled after “First Night” celebrations in other 
communities.  

• We purposefully chose the event times and duration in order to 
appeal to families with young children. By “ringing in the new year” at 
9:00 pm, families were be able to attend with children of all ages, 
celebrate the New Year with other members of the community, and still 
have time to continue their own celebrations afterward. 

• Free to attend, activities included multiple high-energy bands and a DJ on the stage, dynamic lighting effects, a 
twitter wall, live video displays, an expanded Kids Zone over 2012 with multiple drop-in children’s activities, skating 
on the ice-rink, and a fireworks show at 9:00.  

• We enlisted a number of partners that helped grow our event in 2013: 

o “Park and Play” from the City of Kelowna provided 
drop-in games including a Wii dance station 

o Corporate Play provided interactive Canadiana 
themed activities including "Beaver Toss". 

o RedLine Bobcat provided 2 dump trucks of fresh 
snow, that was again a huge hit with the kids  

o Interior Savings and the UBCO International 
Student's Association provided numerous 
volunteers to help serve over 2,000 cups of free 
hot chocolate 

o Festivals Kelowna Board members, their family 
and friends helped give away over 5,000 flow 
sticks 

 
• Attendance was estimated at over 6,500 people in 2013, almost double the draw for the 2012 event. 

 
• Multiple Media and Corporate partners were quick to support the 2013 event, allowing us to increase 

awareness and broaden our exposure throughout the community, as well as enhance the nature of onsite 
activities.  

 
• The event was live streamed on Castanet.net 

with over 7,500 views 

• 1,500 people viewed the NYE teaser video on 
our Youtube channel prior to the event 

• Bell Media via 99.9 Sun FM and The Kelowna 
Daily Courier both provided additional           
promotion and marketing for the event beyond          
our media buys, to a value of over $3,000 

 

20



 
 

Festivals Kelowna – A Review of 2013 Programs and Activities 

March 5th, 2014   

Page 13 of 27 

Performing Artist Career Development Trajectory with Festivals Kelowna 

Festivals Kelowna follows a philosophy that there is a place on our stages for all kinds of artists with all levels of 

experience. What is unique about our organization is that through the variety and diversity of events, festivals, and 

activities we produce or participate in, we can provide a range of options for these artists - from the entry level Busker 

just learning their craft in front of  2 people, to the headliner at a special concert event entertaining thousands. 

 The following illustration shows the growth and career development opportunities that exists for artists with Festivals 

Kelowna events and activities. As you can see, our Buskers program is the first point of contact that allows us to 

connect our community’s emerging artists with a variety of levels of performance opportunities.  

 

                   

“Tiger Moon’s” story, an illustration of artist development 

At Festivals Kelowna we note a significant amount of crossover and connectivitiy between our core programs each 

year, especially between the Kelowna Buskers Program/ Marquee Buskers, Parks Alive!, and our other festival events. 

For example, Buskers typically arrive in our city and want to busk. Many times after coming to our office with the 

intenton of just signing up for our Buskers program, they are impressed with the unexpected additional opportunities 

that we can provide for them. In fact, we consider the Buskers program the first point of contact with many of the new 

“creatives” that arrive in our city, and the the audition process allows our staff to quickly assess and connect talented 

Buskers with our various programs that far exceed the simple issuing of a licence to busk in our community.  

 "Tiger Moon" is a great example of how our variety of programs provided a very empowering career development 

opportunity for perfomers who joined our Buskers program.  They auditioned as buskers around the middle of May in 

2013 and got their summer busking permit. Our staff took a video of them and shared them on our facebook page. Due 

to a strong response from both our staff team and the general public,  we immediately booked them for a paid Parks 

Alive! performance and 3 Marquee Busker opportunities. Throughout the summer,  the public’s response to their music 

21



 
 

Festivals Kelowna – A Review of 2013 Programs and Activities 

March 5th, 2014   

Page 14 of 27 

continued to be overwhelmingly positive. It also didn't hurt that they were always open to our staff calling them with a 

last minute opportunity if another act cancelled for one of our shows.  

Towards the end of last summer, our staff had an opportunity to select the opening act for the "Grapes of Wrath" show 

on Aug 28
th
. The criteria we had to work within was an artist whose career would benefit from the opportunity while 

also ensuring we booked a flexible act that would be easy to work with due to the complex nature of the show. Based 

on our positive Buskers, Parks Alive!, and Marquee Busker experiences with "Tiger Moon", we selected them for this 

unique opportunity.  

Based on their success, exposure, confidence building experiences, and multiple chances to hone their performance, 

"Tiger Moon" embarked on a 10 month cross North America Tour in the fall of 2013. We look forward to their return to 

Kelowna next summer.  

 
 
Arts Alive!   
 
Program Mission: 

To create opportunities for local artists and crafters to showcase and sell their original, handmade art, and to enhance 

the park experience for residents and visitors. 

• Arts Alive! continued to provide a high profile location for local artists and crafters to sell their original, handcrafted 
art. In 2013, the program ran 7 days a week from 9:00 am to 11:00 pm, May 15

th
 to September 30

th
. Artists were 

able to purchase multi-month or single month permits, and set-up daily along the Brigadier Angle Walkway in City 
Park and near the Yacht Club Muster Station.  

 
• A complementary program to Arts Alive! was also presented again 2013, “Arts Alive! at Parks Alive!”. Formerly 

called the “Yellow Tent Program”, this artist program was held in conjunction with the Parks Alive! concerts in 
Kerry Park on Friday and Saturday evenings. With similar criteria to Arts Alive!, this program was designed to 
enhance the onstage programming of the concert series, and benefit artists who were unable to participate for the 
duration of the regular Arts Alive! program. We once again allowed our Arts Alive! participants to attend Kerry Park 
without paying an additional fee. 

 
Highlights: 

• 33 spaces were available in City Park and 4 near the Yacht Club. An additional 20 spaces were available in Kerry 
Park on Friday and Saturday evenings.  
 

• Our 2013 Arts Alive! program included 38 artists that bought a total of 41 licenses. Compared to 50 
participating artists in 2012 and 55 licenses bought, this represents a 24% decrease in the amount of participating 
artists between 2012 and 2013.   
 

• The most preferred permit in 2013 was the “Season” permit representing 60% of the total permits given.  
Monthly permits were the second most popular permit representing 17% of the total permits sold.  
 

• We saw a drop in the amount of artists from outside the Okanagan this year. In 2012, 12% of our artists were from 
outside of the Okanagan, while this year only 2% of our artists were from outside the Okanagan.  
 

 

22



 
 

Festivals Kelowna – A Review of 2013 Programs and Activities 

March 5th, 2014   

Page 15 of 27 

 

• A larger portion of the 2013 artists were new to the program. In 2013, 57% of our artists were new while in 
2012  46% of our artists were returning from the previous year.  Our staff feels that this reinforces some of the 
anecdotal feedback we have been receiving from some vendors that they find it tough to make a living off the 
sales of their art in the park.  

 
• One of our more unique artists this summer was a glass blower who had 

even created his own version of Ogopogo.  

• Face painting and Henna temporary tattoos were very popular this summer. 

We had 5 vendors offering this type of art to the community and tourists.  

The future of Arts Alive!  

Festivals Kelowna staff have been involved in the management of this visual artist program through its various 

incarnations since 1999. We recognize that this program has been in a gradual decline and is probably not creating the 

opportunity for artists that it once did. For example, economics and lifestyle changes generally have had a negative 

impact upon the volume of sales by participants (i.e. consumers don’t carry cash with them as much these days). 

Therefore, in 2014 we will be implementing a significant review of this program including conducting market research, 

stakeholder meetings, and artisan roundtables with program participants from the past two to three years to explore 

the future direction for the program.  

It is our intention to launch Arts Alive! in again 2014 with some modifications, but to also explore the opportunity for the 

creation of a new visual art festival or "Art Market" concept in 2015 and beyond. 

Other events and activities in our future 

With a new operating agreement in place for the next three years, Festivals Kelowna is looking to the future and 

exploring opportunities for new festivals and events. One of these events is a the much talked about "Kelowna 

Busker's Festival". 

"Kelowna Busker's Festival" 

The topic of busking has consistently been a popular and engaging 

subject matter during our public presentations throughout the 

community over the years.  

This interest has recently been expanded upon by His Worship, 

Mayor Gray, who has been championing the idea of holding a 

"Kelowna Busker's Festival" in our community within the next 2 

years. We found this new festival idea has resonated with the public and the media resulting in multiple written articles, 

tv and radio interviews, positive feedback to our staff, and online discussions through social media and public forums. 

As well, initial discussions have been held between the Victoria Busker's Festival, the City of Kelowna, and Festivals 

Kelowna with the intention to leverage and collaborate with each other's event(s) to maximize impact for all, and  

dicussions related to opportunities to enhance and expand upon our current Busk related programs - the Kelowna 

Busker's Program and the Marquee Busker's Program.  

 

 

23



 
 

Festivals Kelowna – A Review of 2013 Programs and Activities 

March 5th, 2014   

Page 16 of 27 

Preliminary Research: 

Following discussions with City staff and the Mayor early in 2013, Festivals Kelowna staff initially believed a small, 

single day Busker's Festival could be created as a "pilot" for a larger festival model. However, after conducting 

brief, yet highly insightful interviews during the summer and early fall with some of our local buskers, an 

international professional busker passing through our community, and the Producer of the Victoria Busker's 

Festival, we have re-evaluated our short-term position. Specifically, we noted that:  

o A multi-day festival is preferred over a single-day festival by Buskers given the idea that "frequent 

performances = frequent chances to earn money" 

o A single-day "mini" festival conflicts with the model of other established Busker festivals and would 

negatively impact our ability to collaborate with these festivals 

o The Victoria International Busker's Festival spent two years researching the best way to launch their 

Buskers Festival. This lead time was needed to secure partners, funders, performers, develop an effective 

site layout, and create a marketing campaign to attract audiences 

However, on the plus side, we also noted that: 

o Kelowna audiences have grown increasingly supportive of Busking as an art and entertainment form 

o Kelowna audiences have come to understand that notion of "consideration" when watching a Busk 

performance and do financially reward those artists 

whose show they enjoy 

o Unique and high quality Busker performances can 

be very financially lucrative for Buskers  in Kelowna 

(source: "Ganja the Great", professional Busker 

and 2013 Kelowna Busker's Program participant) 

o Kelowna's downtown, lakefront venues possess 

unique physical and geographical attributes that 

lend themselves nicely to hosting a successful 

Buskers Festival  

Based on the feedback noted above and our own internal analysis, we have recommended and it has been 

accepted by City staff  that 2014 and 2015 will be used to conduct research into the creation of a "Kelowna 

Busker's Festival", with possible launch in 2015 or 2016.  Further, Festivals Kelowna staff will work collaboratively 

with City of Kelowna staff to research and develop a festival plan that will include: 

o Festivals Kelowna staff and City of Kelowna event development staff attending the Victoria festival to build 

relationships with the key stake holders and observe their event delivery in 2014 

o Festivals Kelowna will secure a professional Buskers from the Victoria Busker's Festival to perform during 

a Parks Alive! "Theme Weekend" event in 2014 as a promotional strategy - a "teaser" to offer Kelowna an 

idea of what a local Busker's Festival could offer  

o Festivals Kelowna and City of Kelowna event development staff will commence discussions with potential 

partners and stakeholders to gather input   

24



 
 

Festivals Kelowna – A Review of 2013 Programs and Activities 

March 5th, 2014   

Page 17 of 27 

 

Financial Summary  
 
Our society continued to operate in a fiscally responsible manner in 2013. We again enhanced and expanded the 

programs under our responsibility, while achieving solid revenues and managing expenses resulting in another year of 

moderate growth.  

 

The society’s operating budget in 2013 was $394,758 (including Folk Fest and Canada Concerts society funds). This 

is a 2.3% increase over the prior year’s budget of $385,473. Revenues were received from a variety of sources 

including sponsorship, grants, program fees, and vendor fees. The society generated $149,758 in additional cash 

revenues to leverage against the City of Kelowna operating grant, an improvement of $12,785 over community-

based funds raised in 2012. The City of Kelowna’s investment in the core programs remained at $248,500, which 

included a $13,500 “flow thru” grant to the Folk Fest and Canada Day Concert societies for Canada Day, representing 

about 61% of the society’s total revenues.   

 

Overall, the society exceeded its revenue goals for the year by 3.4%, largely attributable to stronger community 

donations and grants combined with a moderate growth in vendor fees. As ever, another key to our financial 

success are the investments by our community partners such as Corporate sponsors, service clubs, and our 

suppliers who provide significant in-kind support. We continue to be privileged to operate in a community where the 

business sector understands the benefit that programs like Parks Alive!, Canada Day, New York New Years and Arts 

Alive! provide our citizens. 

 

On the delivery side, we continued to commit the majority of our expenses to direct programming related costs. 

Through the production of our multiple festivals, events, and programs, Festivals Kelowna re-invested approximately 

$212,000 back into the local economy from direct event expenses such as event suppliers like fencing and waste 

management, security and medical services, sound and lighting, fireworks, marketing and promotion services, 

advertising and promotion, contract event staff, and performer fees. This represents approximately 60% of our 2013 

expenses flowing back into the Kelowna marketplace. Specifically, performer fees and sound & lighting costs to 

support their performances represented about half of that re-investment, or 30% of our overall operating budget.  

 
Conclusion 
 
2013 was another highly successful year for Festivals Kelowna. As a long time partner of the City of Kelowna in the 

development, management, and delivery of its programs, festivals, and events, Festivals Kelowna is committed to 

working cooperatively and collaboratively with the City of Kelowna over the next three years to provide: 

1. Excellent value for its tax-dollar investment 

2. High calibre, accessible, and engaging community-focused festivals and events that will enhance the quality of 

life for Kelowna's residents and visitors 

3. An operating model that is cost effective and is seeks to leverage City funds that will enhance and extend their 

impact 

4. An event delivery model that is responsive to opportunities, capitalizes on existing local assets, welcomes new 

ideas, and integrates collaboration as a core development philosophy 

5. Organizational knowledge and experience that can react quickly to shifts in the marketplace 

6. Program content that complements other City of Kelowna cultural and recreation initiatives 

25



 
 

Festivals Kelowna – A Review of 2013 Programs and Activities 

March 5th, 2014   

Page 18 of 27 

7. Support for the new City of Kelowna event development strategy that will result in a strong, sustainable 

festivals and events industry in Kelowna 

As we continue to develop our program plan this year, Festivals Kelowna staff and Board of Directors will embrace our 
society Vision of “Connecting our community through festivals and events”. We look forward to another strong year in 
2014. 

26



 
 

Festivals Kelowna – A Review of 2013 Programs and Activities 

March 5th, 2014   

Page 19 of 27 

 

APPENDIX 
 

1. Festivals Kelowna Board of Directors – 2013 

2. Festivals Kelowna organizational chart 

3. 2013 Celebrate Canada Day – Kelowna schedule of events and event map 

4. Parks Alive! 2013 Schedule of Events 

5. New York New Year's Eve event poster 

 

27



 
 

Festivals Kelowna – A Review of 2013 Programs and Activities 

March 5th, 2014   

Page 20 of 27 

Board of Directors 2013 

Willy Kovacic, President 

President/Managing Broker, Okanagan Strata Management 

 

Calum Hughes, Vice-President 

Hospital Administrator, Interior Health Authority, professional musician 

 

Daniel Healey, Treasurer  

Senior Auditor, KPMG 

 

Lesley Spiegel, Private Sector Rep. 

Event Producer, Owner, Synergy Events 
 

Lisa Brown, Secretary 

Jewellry artist, eco-silversmith; Receptionist, BBM Office Solutions 
 

Frano Graziani 

Paul Davis Systems Okanagan, Franchise Owner 
 

Mirian Cunha 

Graphic artist, performer 
 

Kelly Shepherd,  

Event Producer, KBAAD, Centre of Gravity, Keloha Music & Arts Festival 

 

Ed Laverock, Director 

Operations Manager - Okanagan Valley 

National Diabetes Trustee Corp., Clothesline Program 

 

Dustin Sargent, Director 

Business Owner, Developer, Devara Enterprises 
 

Jennifer Widmer, Director 

Marketing Director, Okanagan Wine Festivals Society 

 

 

 

 

28



 

Festivals Kelowna Organization Chart 

 

 

Festivals Kelowna 

Board of Directors 

 

Renata Mills 

Executive Director 

Ryan Donn 

Program Coordinator  

(f/t) 

 

Parks Alive! Assistant  

(p/t) 

 

Parks Alive! Assistant  

(p/t) 

 

NEW - Marketing 

Coordinator  

(contract) 

Mark Greenhalgh 

Cda Site & Ops 

Coordinator 

(contract) 

 

Cda Day Volunteer 

Coordinator 

(contract) 

 

NEW - Arts Alive! 

Assistant 

(contract) 

29



 

30



 
 

Festivals Kelowna – A Review of 2013 Programs and Activities 

March 5th, 2014   

Page 23 of 27 

31



 
 

Festivals Kelowna – A Review of 2013 Programs and Activities 

March 5th, 2014   

Page 24 of 27 

32



 
 

Festivals Kelowna – A Review of 2013 Programs and Activities 

March 5th, 2014   

Page 25 of 27 

 

 

33



 
 

Festivals Kelowna – A Review of 2013 Programs and Activities 

March 5th, 2014   

Page 26 of 27 

 

34



 
 

Festivals Kelowna – A Review of 2013 Programs and Activities 

March 5th, 2014   

Page 27 of 27 

 

 

35



36



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: March 3, 2014 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Planning &  Real Estate (JM) 

Application: Z13-0042 Owners: Ian & Marguerite Sisett 

Address: 3112 Watt Road Applicant: Ian Sisett 

Subject: Rezoning Application   

Existing OCP Designation: 
S2RES – Single / Two Unit Residential 
PARK – Major Park and Open Space 

Existing Zone: RU1 – Large Lot Housing 

Proposed Zone: RU1c – Large Lot Housing with Carriage House 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Rezoning Application No. Z13-0042 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 by 
changing the zoning classification of Lot 9, District Lot 14, ODYD, plan 6069, located on 3112 
Watt Road, Kelowna, BC from the RU1 – Large Lot Housing zone to the RU1c – Large Lot Housing 
with Carriage House zone be, considered by Council; 

AND THAT the Zone Amending Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration; 

AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered in conjunction 
with Council’s consideration of a Development Variance Permit for the subject property. 

2.0 Purpose   

To consider a proposal to rezone the subject property in order to permit the conversion of an 
existing accessory building into a carriage house. 

3.0 Urban Planning Department 

Urban Planning staff are supportive of the proposed land use change to permit a carriage house 
on the subject property. Sensitive infill and densification in established urban neighbourhoods is 
supported by policy direction in the Official Community Plan, and the lot can accommodate the 
private open space and parking demands of the carriage house. 

However, the proposal also triggers a variance to the maximum height of a carriage house. Staff 
do have some concerns over the proposed variance. The overall height of the building and the 
number of second storey windows may increase the potential for privacy impacts on adjoining 
properties, and the magnitude of the variance (37.7%) is substantial. Should Council support the 

37



Z13-0042 – Page 2 

 
 

land use, the merits of the Development Variance Permit request will be considered by Council 
alongside final adoption of zoning. 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

In 2012, the applicant requested and received three variances in order to permit a second storey 
to be constructed over a previously existing single storey structure (DVP12-0032), whose siting 
was illegal. At that time, staff recommended against the proposal, and there were several 
concerns raised by neighbouring residents. The proponent previously made application to develop 
a carriage house in 2009, but subsequently withdrew the application. 

In accordance with Council Policy No. 367, the applicant has conducted Neighbour Consultation 
to provide an early opportunity for dialogue about a project between the proponent and 
surrounding residents. Of the 16 properties consulted, 9 were in support of the proposal, 1 was 
opposed, and 7 did not provide a response. Two properties within the required 50m radius were 
not consulted, as the applicant felt that their interests would be unaffected by the proposal. 
Staff also received a letter from the one land owner in opposition noting as justification that the 
carriage house may present privacy challenges, that it sets a precedent for over-height carriage 
houses, that it may trigger the proliferation of carriage houses on Watt Road, and that such 
development can contribute to noise problems. 

4.2 Project Description 

The applicant is proposing to convert the upper level of an existing accessory building into a 
carriage house. The main level of the accessory building is currently occupied by a two car 
garage exiting directly onto Watt Road, and a games room of approximately 32m2 in area. The 
upper level is approximately 45.3 m2 in area and is currently used as a storage area. Once 
converted, the upper level would contain a one bedroom dwelling accessed from the top of a 
common staircase into the accessory building. 

Landscaped private open space is accessible to the carriage house on the north and east sides of 
the building. Ample parking is provided for the use in the existing driveway. 

No changes to the exterior of the building are proposed as part of this application. Nevertheless, 
a Development Permit is required to evaluate the form and character of the proposal and will be 
executed at a staff level. Despite previous variances required to legalize the siting and size of 
the accessory building, an additional variance is required to permit a carriage house in excess of 
4.5 m in height. 

4.3 Site Context 

The subject property is approximately 0.25ha in area and is situated at the northern terminus of 
Watt Road. The parcel fronts Okanagan Lake at the south side of the mouth of Fascieux Creek, 
and presently contains a principal dwelling and an accessory building. Development surrounding 
the parcel consists principally of low density single family residential.  

Specifically, adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North RU1 – Large Lot Housing Fascieux Creek, Low Density Residential 

East RU1 – Large Lot Housing Fascieux Creek, Low Density Residential 

South RU1 – Large Lot Housing Low Density Residential 

West Okanagan Lake Okanagan Lake 

38



Z13-0042 – Page 3 

 
 

Subject Property Map: 3112 Watt Road 

 

4.4 Zoning Analysis Table   

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA RU1 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Existing Lot/Subdivision Regulations 
Lot Area 550 m2 2,547 m2 

Lot Width 16.5 m Approx. 20.0 m 

Lot Depth 30.0 m Approx. 98.0 m 

Development Regulations (Principal Dwelling) 
Height Lesser of 9.5m or 2 ½ storeys 2 ½ storeys 

Floor Area - Approx. 530 m2 

Development Regulations (Carriage House) 
Height 4.5 m  6.2 m 

Front Yard (east) 18.0 m 3.4 m* 

Side Yard (south) 1.0 m 1.08 m 

Side Yard (north) 1.0 m exceeds 

Rear Yard (west) 1.5 m exceeds 

Site Coverage (bldgs) 40% 16% 

Site Coverage (bldgs & parking) 50% 21% 

Other Regulations 
Minimum Parking Requirements 3 exceeds 

Lot Coverage Lesser of 14% or 90 m2 102 m2
* 

Private Open Space 30 m2 exceeds 

Building Separation 4.5 m  exceeds 

 Variance to the maximum height of a carriage house from 4.5 m permitted to 6.2 m proposed. 

* Varied as per Development Variance Permit No. DVP12-0032. 

39



Z13-0042 – Page 4 

 
 

5.0 Current Development Policies  

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Policy 5.2.3 Complete Suburbs.1 Support a mix of uses within Kelowna’s suburbs (see Map 
5.1 - Urban Core Area), in accordance with “Smart Growth” principles to ensure complete 
communities. Uses that should be present in all areas of the City (consistent with Map 4.1 
- Future Land Use Map), at appropriate locations, include: commercial, institutional, and 
all types of residential uses (including affordable and special needs housing) at densities 
appropriate to their context. 
 
Policy 5.22.6 Sensitive Infill 2 Encourage new development or redevelopment in existing 
residential areas to be sensitive to or reflect the character of the neighborhood with 
respect to building design, height and siting. 
 
Policy 5.22.7 Healthy Communities3  Through current zoning regulations and 
development processes, foster healthy, inclusive communities and a diverse mix of 
housing forms, consistent with the appearance of the surrounding neighbourhood. 

6.0 Technical Comments   

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

1) Development Cost Charges (DCC’s) are required to be paid prior to issuance of any 
Building Permits. 

2) Operable bedroom windows required as per the 2012 edition of the British Columbia 
Building Code (BCBC 12). 

3) Range hood above the stove and the washroom to vent separately to the exterior of 
the building. The size of the penetration for this duct thru a fire separation is 
restricted by BCBC 06, so provide size of ducts and fire separation details at time of 
Building Permit Applications. 

4) A fire rated exit stairwell is required from the suite to the exterior c/w fire rated 
doors that open into the stairwell and a fire rating on the bottom of the stairs. Please 
provide these details on the building permit drawing sets. 

5) Full Plan check for Building Code related issues will be done at time of Building Permit 
applications. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

See attached Memorandum, dated December 17, 2013. 

6.3 RCMP 

The RCMP have no comments regarding this application. 

 

 

                                                      
1 Official Community Plan Objective 5.2 Community Sustainability 
2 Official Community Plan Objective 5.22 Residential Land Use Policies.  
4 Official Community Plan Objective 5.22 Residential Land Use Policies. 

 

40



Z13-0042 – Page 5 

 
 

6.4 Fire Department 

Requirements of section 9.10.19 Smoke Alarms of the BCBC 2012 are to be met. Additional visible 
address is required from Watt Rd. 

6.5 Interior Health Authority 

There are primary distribution facilities within Watt Rd.  The applicant is responsible for costs 
associated with any change to the subject property's existing service, if any, as well as the 
provision of appropriate land rights where required. 

Otherwise, FortisBC Inc. (Electric) has no concerns with this circulation. 

6.6 Interior Health Authority 

Interests are unaffected. 

6.7 Shaw Cable 

Shaw Cable approves proposed rezoning application at 3112 Watt Road. 

Owner/developer to supply and install an underground conduit system per Shaw Cable drawings 
and specifications. 

6.8 Telus 

TELUS has no comment regarding this application. 

7.0 Application   

Date of Application Received: November 15, 2013 
 
Neighbour Consultation:  January 25, 2014 
 
Additional Information Received: February 18, 2014 

Report prepared by: 

     
James Moore, Planner II 
 

Reviewed by:    Ryan Smith, Urban Planning Manager 

Approved for Inclusion  D. Gilchrist, Div. Director, Community Planning & Real Estate 
 
Attachments:   
Subject Property Map (1 page) 
Site Plan/Landscape Plan (1 page) 
Elevations (1 page) 
Floor Plans (2 pages) 
Applicant’s Site Photos (7 pages) 
Applicant’s Evidence of Consultation (14 pages) 
Development Engineering Memorandum, dated December 17, 2013 (1 page) 

41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: 10 March 2014 

RIM No. 1200-10 

To: City Manager 

From: Department Manager, Policy & Planning 

Application: ASP13-0001, OCP13-0021 Owners: 

Melcor Lakeside Inc. 

Canadian Horizons Land 
Development Corp. 

Address: Thomson Flats Applicant: Melcor Development Ltd. 

Subject: Supplemental Report 

Existing OCP Designation: FUR – Future Urban Reserve 

Proposed OCP Designation: ASP – Area Structure Plan 

Existing Zoning: A1 – Agriculture 1 

  

Recommendation: 

THAT Council receives for information the supplemental report from the Policy & Planning 
Department dated March 10, 2014 with respect to Area Structure Plan Application No. ASP13-
0001 and Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment Application No. OCP13-0021; 
 
AND THAT Council has considered the public consultation process for the purpose of Section 879 
of the Local Government Act and agrees that a public consutation process not be required as it 
will be a component of the Area Structure Plan (ASP) process; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Official Community Plan (OCP) Amending Bylaw be forwarded to a Public 
Hearing for further consideration. 

Purpose: 

To consider the public consultation process for the Area Structure Plan and Official Community 
Plan Bylaw Amendment and to forward the OCP Amending Bylaw to a Public Hearing. 

 

71



ASP13-0001, OCP13-0021 – Page 2 

 
 

Policy & Planning Comments: 

On March 3, 2014, Council approved a request by Melcor Developments Ltd. to amend the OCP to 
allow for a new designated ASP within the plan boundary, and to seek authorization to prepare 
the related ASP. 

The ASP process involves extensive public engagement over a lengthy time period, and therefore 
staff feel that public consultation prior to initial consideration is not necessary.  

Report prepared by: 

     
Gary Stephen, Long Range Planning Manager 
 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Danielle Noble-Brandt, Department Manager 
     Policy & Planning 

 

72



73



74



75



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: March 10, 2014 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning (AW) 

Application: Z10-0104 Owner: Eric & Margaret Nickel 

Address: 1205, 1215, 1223, 1229 Richter St Applicant: Garry Tomporowski Arch. 

Subject: 2014 03 10 Extension Report Z10-0104  to Mar 7 2015 

Existing Zone: RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing 

Proposed Zone: RM5 - Medium Density Multiple Housing 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT in accordance with Development Application Procedures Bylaw No. 10540, the deadline for 
the adoption of Amending Bylaw No. 10544 (Z10-0104), Lots 10-13 District Lot 138 ODYD Plan 
1039, located on Richter Street, Kelowna, BC, be extended from March 7, 2014 to March 7, 2015. 

2.0 Purpose  

The applicant is proposing to extend the bylaw to rezone the subject properties from the RU6 – 
Two Dwelling Housing zone to the RM5 – Medium Density Multiple Housing zone in order to 
facilitate a 26-unit apartment building.  A Development Permit for the form and character of the 
proposed development and a Development Variance Permit will be considered by Council at a 
later date. 

3.0 Urban Planning  

Section 2.12.1 of Procedure Bylaw No. 10540 states that: 

In the event that an application made pursuant to this bylaw is one (1) year old or older and has 
been inactive for a period of six (6) months or greater: 
 

a) The application will be deemed to be abandoned and the applicant will be notified in writing 
that the file will be closed; 

b) Any bylaw that has not received final adoption will be of no force and effect; 

c) In the case of an amendment application, the City Clerk will place on the agenda of a meeting 
of Council a motion to rescind all readings of the bylaw associated with that Amendment 
application. 

76



Z10-0104 – Page 2 

 
 

 
Section 2.12.2 of the Procedure Bylaw makes provision that upon written request by the 
applicant prior to the lapse of the application, Council may extend the deadline for a period of 
twelve (12) months by passing a resolution to that affect. 
  
By-Law No. 10544 received second and third readings on June 1, 2011 after the Public Hearing 
held on the same date. The applicant wishes to have this application remain open for an 
additional twelve (12) months in order to address the outstanding conditions of final adoption.  
This project remains unchanged and is the same in all respects as originally applied for. 
 
The applicant has been working to secure financing for the project but to date has been unable 
to do so. Staff have made the applicant aware that this is the final extension that will be 
supported and that the application should be closed if there is no forward progress during the 
next year. The applicant agreed that this was a reasonable approach and will spend the 
remainder of the year working through the financing details. For these reasons, the Urban 
Planning Department recommends Council consider this final request for an extension favourably. 

Report prepared by: 

      
Alec Warrender, Land Use Planner  
/dc 
 

Reviewed by:    Ryan Smith, Manager - Urban Planning 
      
 

Approved for Inclusion  Doug Gilchrist, Divisional Director, Community   
      Planning & Real Estate 
 

Attachments:  

Site Plan 

77



78



79



80



Report to Council 
 

Date: 

 
3/10/2014 
 

File: 
 

1850-20 

To:  
 

City Manager 

From: 
 

Manager, Roads, Drainage & Solid Waste Projects 

Subject: 
 

Lakeshore Road Upgrade Project 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council receives for information, the report from the Manager for Roads, Drainage & 
Solid Waste Projects dated March 10, 2014 regarding the Lakeshore Road Upgrades Project. 
 
AND THAT Council approve additional budget required for the construction of the Lakeshore 
Road Upgrades project, from Cook Road to Lexington Drive. 
 
AND THAT the 2014 Financial Plan be amended by $1,120,000 along with transfers of $330,000 
from existing capital projects to support additional cost projections of $700,000 for the 
construction of the trunk sewer main (funded $475,000 from DCC Wastewater Trunk reserves 
and $225,000 from the Wastewater Utility); and $750,000 additional cost projections for 
additional features in the road corridor (funded $330,000 from transfers from Curb & Gutter, 
Containment Devices and Parking Lot Asphalt Replacement existing capital projects and 
$420,000 from General Reserves). 
 
Purpose:  
 
To inform Council on the progress to date on the detail design and construction schedule of 
the Lakeshore Road Upgrade Project from Cook Road to Lexington Drive. 
 
To explain the need for additional funds and seek council’s approval to authorize funds 
necessary to construct the Lakeshore Road Upgrades project. 
 
Background: 
 
Over the past two years the City of Kelowna has conducted several public open houses and 
workshops to seek input from the community in shaping this important multi-modal 
transportation corridor.  
 
With the replacement of the Mission Creek Bridge and the upsizing of the sewer trunk being 
the main catalysts for the Lakeshore Road Upgrade project, the Design & Construction 
Departments is poised to commence construction in April, 2014, with an expected completion 
date of November, 2014. 

81



 
The Lakeshore Upgrades project will see a two lane road cross-section with a center turn lane 
from Cook Rd to Lexington Drive. The corridor will include a roundabout at Lexington Drive, 
multi-use pathway, commuter bike lanes, boulevard landscaping, hard-surfaced center 
medians, retaining walls, street  lighting and traffic signals,  sewer trunk main and 
modifications to concrete siphon chambers,  storm,  water  and  shallow  utilities,  with  the  
installation of conduits for future undergrounding of existing overhead electrical utility.   
 
The Detail design process of this signature road corridor has revealed additional items that 
will require additional funds. The inclusion of these additional items has reduced the current 
construction contingency substantially, thus leaving two options: 
 
Option 1, request additional funds to complete the project as intended and in the timelines 
that would have the least impact on residents, the businesses and the commuting public. This 
option would potentially result in better tender pricing as all works would be done in one 
construction season while the bridge is being replaced. 
 
Option 2, reduce the project limits and complete the project over 2 construction seasons. 
Additional funds would have to be added to the project budget for 2015. This option would 
only help with respect to an easier budgeting process over 2 years instead of 1. However this 
option would be a more costly one, since it would require additional traffic control and 
mobilization and demobilization construction costs. Engineering consulting costs would also 
increase due to extra construction inspection and contract administration required for the 
longer construction period. In addition, the roadway would likely be closed for 2 consecutive 
years. 
 
A brief summary of a few of the key items that have been modified or added since the 
preliminary design, that have increased costs, are explained below: 
 
Sanitary Sewer 
The preliminary design that was used to calculate the initial cost estimates was several years 
old and the latest population projections generate more flow and require a larger pipe. The 
larger pipes means larger manholes are required and other associated construction costs are 
higher. Detailed design also revealed that sheet piling may be required to construct near a 
residential strata. 
 
Transportation 
a. Large increase for electrical costs to facilitate construction (temporary relocations) 
b. New poles to accommodate increased bridge deck heights (clearance issues) 
c. Additional electrical supplies for SCADA system and lit bus shelters 
d. Large increase to accommodate temporary relocations for Telus and Shaw including: 

i. Fibreoptics splicing 
ii. Cable splicing 
iii. Pole relocations 

e. Inclusion of bus shelters and benches 
f. Upgraded retaining walls and concrete privacy fencing 
g. Inclusion of decorative banner poles  
h. Addition of geo-synthetics to reduce approach-fill settlement at Mission Creek Bridge 

(treatment options were not evident until we were able to verify through geotechnical 
investigation) 

82



Bridge 
a. Larger piles and tighter spacing needed to support bridge (not evident until new 

geotechnical investigation and analysis was completed) 
b. Provision for decorative railing treatment 
c. Increase riprap armoring based on new hydraulic modeling and peak-event scour analysis 

 
Tentative Project Schedule: 
  

Short-listing of Contractors March 6th, 2014 
Tender Project March 13, 2014 
Public Open house March 27th, 2014 
Tender Close April 3rd, 2014 
Construction Start April 24th, 2014 
Construction Completion November, 2014 

 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
Three capital projects originally planned for 2014 will be cancelled and re-evaluated for the 
2015 capital program. These are Curb & Gutter for $100,000, Containment Devices for 
$80,000 and Parking Lot Asphalt Replacement for $150,000. The additional $420,000 required 
for the Transportation project will be from the Unspent Budget Reserve from previous 
Electrical projects dealing with undergrounding of the utility.  
For the Wastewater requirement $225,000 will be from the Utility for the oversizing of the 
pipe and $475,000 will be from the DCC Trunk Reserves. 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Existing Policy: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
Submitted by:  
 
 
 
P. Irani, Manager Roads, Drainage & Solid Waste Projects 
 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                      B. Berry, Design & Construction Services Director 
 
Attachment 1 Mission Creek Bridge 
Attachment 2 Mission Creek Bridge from Greenway 
Attachment 3 Mission Creek Bridge from Greenway 
Attachment F-Station 2+800 - Commercial Area 
Attachment Lexington Roundabout 
Attachment Lexington to Cook Northbound Fly Over – HD 
Attachment Video Cook to Lexington Southbound Drive Thru - HD 

  

83



 
cc: General Manager, Infrastructure 
 Director, Financial Services / Corporate & Protective Services 
 Divisional Director, Communications & Information Services  

84



85



86



87



88



89



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
3/10/2014 
 

File: 
 

0245-80 

To:  
 

City Manager 

From: 
 

Infrastructure Division Director  

Subject: 
 

2014 Water and Sewer Utility Rates 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council receives, for information, the Report of the Infrastructure Division Director 
dated March 10, 2014 regarding the 2014 Water and Sewer Utility Rates for information; 
 
AND THAT Council approves changes to the 2014 Water and Sewer Utility rates to reflect the 
move to bi-monthly billing; 
 
AND THAT Council approves the Water Quality Enhancement Fee being reduced for the larger 
metered residential, commercial and industrial properties based on meter sizes; 
 
AND THAT Bylaw No. 10927 being amendment No.32 to the Sewerage System User Bylaw No. 
3480 be forwarded to Council for reading consideration.  
 
AND FURTHER THAT Bylaw No. 10928 being amendment No.3 to the Water Regulation Bylaw 
No. 10480 be forwarded to Council for reading consideration.  
 
Purpose:  
 
To seek Council’s approval to amend the Water and Sewer rates to support bi-monthly billing 
and to adjust the 2014 Water Quality Enhancement fee increase. 
 
Background: 
 
At the Regular Meeting of Council of February 20, 2012, Council approved water and sewer 
rate changes for a 3 year period to address both Utilities’ financial needs. On October 23, 
2013 Council approved moving to bi-monthly billing for water and sewer to start with the next 
increase in rates which is scheduled for the April 16th billing in 2014.  A further change is to 
make the new rate effective with water and sewer use as of April 1, 2014 (rather than the 
April 16th billing which would include usage back to early March). Changes to the Water and 
Sewer Regulation Bylaws are required to accommodate these changes.    

90



As part of the 2012 rate changes, Council dealt with increases to the Water Quality 
Enhancement fee over that same period to address funding needs for future water filtration 
requirements.  Increases in water treatment requirements in 2011 by the Province and 
Interior Health identified that the City Water Utility should position itself to install water 
filtration in the future.  As part of the filtration deferral approval IHA required the City to 
have a funding strategy to pay for the filtration.   The cost of future filtration for the City 
Utility was estimated at $134 Million (2011 dollars).  Assuming that federal and provincial 
grants would cover 2/3rds of the funding, the Water Quality Enhancement Fee was increased 
over a 3 year period to generate $2 Million annually in revenue that would be set aside for the 
City’s share of filtration costs.   
 
In review of the Water Quality Enhancement Fee it was determined that the charges to the 
larger meter sizes are increasing disproportionately to the charges for the residential meter 
size. Based on the water consumption charge ratios it is recommended that the 4 inch to 8 
inch meters charge be reduced as of April 1st as follows: 
     4 inch meter from $219.84 monthly to $362.82 bi-monthly ($181.42/ month) 
     6 inch meter from $491.89 monthly to $612.80 bi-monthly($302.40/ month) 
     8 inch meter from $874.59 monthly to $807.36 bi-monthly ($403.68/ month) 
 
Further changes to the water charges may be brought back to Council once a more detailed 
review of the Water Bylaw rates are conducted in the coming months.  
 
Internal Circulation: 
Civic Operations Divisional Director 
Communications & Information Divisional Director 
Director, Financial Services 
Revenue Manager 
Utilities Planning Manager 
Utilities Services Manager 
 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements:  
The Water Bylaw will require an amendment if the rate changes are approved. 
 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations:  
The move to a bi-monthly billing format will reduce water revenues slightly as residential 
consumption becomes averaged over 2 months for the inclining rate blocks. Delaying the rate 
increase to coincide with the start of April will also reduce the charge to water customers. 
The change to the Water Quality Enhancement Fee for the larger meter sizes will reduce 
revenues by approximately $78,400 in 2014. 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
Existing Policy: 
Communications Comments: 
 
 
Submitted by:  

91



 
 
John Vos, P. Eng.  Infrastructure Division Director  
 
 
 
cc: Director, Financial Services 
 Communications & Information Divisional Director 
 Utilities Planning Manager 
 Utilities Services Manager 
 Civic Operations Divisional Director 
 Revenue Manager 
 

92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103


	Agenda
	2. Minutes - March 3, 2014 PM Regular Meeting.pdf
	3.1 A Review of 2013 Activities - March 10th report to Council.pdf
	4.1 Memo to City Manager from City Clerk.pdf
	4.1 2014 03 03 Report Z13-0042 3112 Watt Rd.docx
	4.1 2014 03 03 Attachments Z13-0042 3112 Watt Road.pdf
	4.1.1 Bylaw No. 10918 (Z13-0042).pdf
	4.2 2014-03-10 Report - Thomson Flats ASP Bylaw.docx
	4.2.1 Bylaw No. 10924 (OCP13-0021).pdf
	4.3 2014 03 10 Extension Report Z10-0104  to Mar 7 2015.docx
	4.3 2014 03 10 Attachment Z10-0104 Richter St.pdf
	5.1 2014-03-05 - Lakeshore  Upgrades.docx
	5.1 2014-03-05 - Attachments - Lakeshore Upgrades.pdf
	5.2 2014-03-10 - 2014 Water and Sewer Utility Rates.docx
	5.2.1 Bylaw No. 10927.pdf
	5.2.2 Bylaw No. 10928.pdf

